PUBLISHED BY IOP PUBLISHING FOR SISSA MEDIALAB

Received: February 20, 2018 Accepted: April 6, 2018 Published: May 22, 2018

First observations of speed of light tracks by a fluorescence detector looking down on the atmosphere

The JEM-EUSO collaboration

E-mail: jeser@mines.edu

ABSTRACT: EUSO-Balloon is a pathfinder mission for the Extreme Universe Space Observatory onboard the Japanese Experiment Module (JEM-EUSO). It was launched on the moonless night of the 25th of August 2014 from Timmins, Canada. The flight ended successfully after maintaining the target altitude of 38 km for five hours. One part of the mission was a 2.5 hour underflight using a helicopter equipped with three UV light sources (LED, xenon flasher and laser) to perform an inflight calibration and examine the detectors capability to measure tracks moving at the speed of light. We describe the helicopter laser system and details of the underflight as well as how the laser tracks were recorded and found in the data. These are the first recorded laser tracks measured from a fluorescence detector looking down on the atmosphere. Finally, we present a first reconstruction of the direction of the laser tracks relative to the detector.

KEYWORDS: Detectors for UV, visible and IR photons; Lasers; Balloon instrumentation; Space instrumentation



Contents

1	Introduction	1		
2	Detector	2		
3	Laser system and motivation	3		
4	Flight summary	6		
5	Data collection and example events	7		
6	Analysis of laser events	8		
	6.1 Track identification	8		
	6.2 Algorithm for geometric reconstruction	ç		
	6.3 Results of the direction reconstruction	10		
7	Conclusion	12		
The JEM-EUSO collaboration				

1 Introduction

To measure extreme energy cosmic rays with high statistics a large observation area is needed. One option is to go to space. JEM-EUSO (Extreme Universe Space Observatory on board the Japanese Experiment Module) is a planned fluorescence detector on the International Space Station [1]. It is designed to measure the light of extensive air showers developing in the Earth's atmosphere beneath the detector. Further space instruments in the design stage are KLYPVE-EUSO [2] and POEMMA [3]. Various prototypes are being developed for the JEM-EUSO mission [4–6]. The first one looking down onto the atmosphere, was EUSO-Balloon.

The EUSO-balloon mission had three main objectives:

- 1. Perform an end-to-end test of the JEM-EUSO design in a near-space environment
- 2. Measure the effective terrestrial UV background relevant for all space-based fluorescence detectors (a discussion can be found in [7])
- 3. Detect UV light from above including laser tracks for the first time.

The third one is an important milestone for space-based fluorescence measurements. The detector was flown as a stratospheric balloon payload during the moonless night of the 25^{th} of August 2014. It was launched from the Timmins (Canada) stratospheric balloon launch facility. An essential part of the mission was a 2.5 hour underflight using a helicopter equipped with three UV light sources.



Figure 1. Left: schematic of the flown EUSO-Balloon detector (reproduced with permission from [8]); right: the actual detector.

The light sources were used to perform an inflight calibration and to test the instrument's detection capabilities. The EUSO-Balloon instrument and mission have been reported elsewhere [8]. We will focus on the laser part of the underflight. First a brief description of the system and the idea behind the underflight is presented. Then we show an example of the obtained data. Finally, we will explain how the direction of these tracks can be reconstructed and discuss the results and impact of this reconstruction.

2 Detector

An overview of the detector is shown in figure 1 and table 1 lists its key properties. The instrument is a high speed UV camera designed to measure the fluorescence light of cosmic ray air showers. The two main components are the optical bench and the instrument booth. The optical bench contains two Fresnel lenses with an aperture of 1 m^2 to focus the light arriving at the instrument's aperture onto the Photo Detection Module (PDM) of EUSO-Balloon. The point spread function (PSF) of the optics was defined as the FWHM of a two-dimensional Gaussian fit to the focal point. For EUSO-Balloon this gives $9.0 \pm 0.2 \text{ mm}$ or 3×3 pixels corresponding to $0.7^{\circ} \times 0.7^{\circ}$. EUSO-Balloon had a field of view of $\pm 5.5^{\circ}$. A detailed description of the performance of the optical system is given in [9].

The PDM (see figure 2) is made of 36 Hamamatsu M64 Multi-Anode Photomultiplier Tubes (MAPMT), each containing 64 anodes (2304 pixels in total) capable of single photoelectron counting [10]. The Schott BG3 optical filter leads to a detection band of 290 to 430 nm with a tail up to 500 nm. The time binning of the detector is $2.5 \,\mu s$ (equivalent to 1 Gate Time Unit, GTU). One event trigger causes 128 GTUs of data to be collected from all pixels. The trigger rate during the flight was 20 Hz, set by an internal clock. There was no synchronization between this trigger and the laser system.



Figure 2. Top view picture of the PDM with filters attached.

|--|

	Specification	Notes
Telescope Optics	$2 \times 1 \text{ m}^2$ Fresnel lenses	РММА
Field of View	11°×11°	
Number of Pixels	2304 (48×48)	36 64 ch. MAPMTs
MAPMT	R11265-113-M64-MOD2	Hamamatsu
UV Filter	BG3, 2 mm thick	1 per MAPMT
Read Out	DC coupled	double pulse separation 30 ns [11]
Time Bin Duration	2.5 μs (GTU)	event packet = 128 bins ($320 \ \mu s$)
	2.3 μ s integration + 0.2 μ s dead time	
Trigger	forced by CPU	20 Hz, non-synchronized
Flight CPU	Atom N270 1.6 GHz processor	Intel
Telemetry	≈ 1.3 Mbits/s	NOSYCA CNES
Power Consumption	70 W	
Detector Weight	467 kg	
Balloon	$4.0 \times 10^5 \text{ m}^3$	helium
Nominal Float Height	38300 m	
Launch	August 25 00:53 UTC 2017	48.57°N lat 81.38°W long
Flight Duration	8 hours	

3 Laser system and motivation

To evaluate the detectors capability to measure light from an Extensive Air Shower (EAS) and to perform an in-flight calibration, three light sources were mounted to a helicopter that flew under the balloon (see figure 3). An illustration of the underflight arrangement is shown in figure 4. The three light sources were: a UV-LED, a xenon flashlamp, and a UV-laser. Light is scattered isotropically out of a randomly polarized, pulsed laser beam when shot into the atmosphere. This light can be recorded by a fluorescence telescope used to look for cosmic rays. Both air shower and laser, produce a track moving with the speed of light that is observed by the detector. Unlike showers it is possible to set the



Figure 3. The light sources were mounted on a Bell 212 helicopter.



Figure 4. Sketch of the helicopter underflight.



Figure 5. The wavelength of the laser (355 nm) is indicated on the fluorescence spectrum of electrons in air (reprinted from [13], copyright (2007), with permission from Elsevier).

laser energy and direction and repeat the measurement whenever needed. This makes a laser a perfect test beam for fluorescence cosmic ray detectors. A more comprehensive study is presented in [12]. This paper will focus on the laser as a light source. Additional details of the LED and the Flashlamp can be found in [14]. The laser used was a Quantel CFR-Ultra [15] YAG-laser with frequency tripling to a wavelength of 355 nm. This wavelength was chosen because it is in the middle of the atmospheric fluorescence spectrum (see figure 5). Its maximum energy is 18 mJ with a 7 ns pulse width. The optical setup is shown in figure 6. Harmonic separators are used to achieve a spectral purity of more than 99.9%. A $3 \times$ beam expander reduces the divergence to less than 0.04° . The beam splitter diverts 5% of the primary beam onto a pyroelectric probe [16] that measures the relative energy for every discharge. The depolarizing optics is used to randomly polarize the laser beam. This way the scattering out of the beam in air would be symmetric in the azimuth angle around the beam axis.



Figure 6. Left: the UV-laser system that was flown in the helicopter. The thick blue line indicates the beam path. Right: schematic of the UV-laser system.

The beam characteristics are listed in table 2. The laser system was calibrated before and after the flight by measuring the ratio between the monitor energy probe and a second energy probe placed temporarily in the beam downstream of all optics. The calibration factor is independent from the stability of the laser itself. The difference between this calibration factor measured before and after the flight was 1.2 %. The laser system is controlled by a Single Board Computer (SBC).

wavelength	355 nm	divergence	$< 0.04~^{\circ}$
relative energy calibration	< 2%	beam halo	< 0.5%
absolute energy calibration	< 4.5%	spectral purity	> 99.9%
overall stability	1.2%	haam pointing direction	zenith angle: $< 3^{\circ}$
depolarization	< 4%	beam pointing uncertoin	azimuth angle: < 1 $^{\circ}$
absolute timing accuracy	$\pm 20 \text{ns}$	repetition rate (GPS sync.)	19 <i>Hz</i>

 Table 2. Laser beam characteristics.

The key component of the SBC is the "GPSY2" module [17]. It contains an on-board GPS receiver, two 5 V outputs, and one analogue input which triggers the readout of all components. The timing accuracy is 100 ns. The SBC was used to trigger the light sources in a specific order (1. LED, 2. Laser, 3. Xe-Flasher). The sequence was timed so that light from the three sources could reach the detector in the same 128 GTU readout window.

The system was mounted within a Bell 212 helicopter. The laser beam was fired through a partially open door, perpendicular to the body of the helicopter and horizontally when the helicopter was flying level. The pointing accuracy of the laser is better than 1° in azimuth and better than 3° for the zenith angle. The pointing direction was assessed using a self leveling laser while the system was mounted in the helicopter.

4 Flight summary

The balloon was launched on the 25^{th} of August 2014 at 00:53 UTC and reached a float altitude of approximately 38 km after an ascent of 2h 50m. After 4h 40m at float altitude the payload was released from the balloon (8:20 UTC) and landed 39 minutes later in a lake. The trajectories of the balloon and the helicopter are shown in figure 7 and the timeline of the mission is shown in figure 8. The flight path of the helicopter is plotted in red in figure 7.

For the underflight the helicopter arrived from Ottawa (helicopter base, 550 km from Timmins) on the evening of the launch. After refueling in Timmins, it followed the balloon using a GPS tracking system. The tracking system consisted of a GPS module and a beacon mounted on the balloon and a receiver on board of the helicopter [14]. At 03:31 UTC the helicopter entered the FoV of the detector and the light sources were turned on. At the height of the helicopter of 3 km the FoV of the detector is 6.7 by 6.7 kilometers. To trigger pixels across the whole PDM, the pilots flew circular loops with a radius smaller than 4 km centered on the position of the balloon while the laser was pointing towards the center of the circles. The sources were fired \sim 150000 times in 2.28 hours.



Figure 7. The thick blue line shows the flight path of the balloon. The yellow dashed line is the approximate FoV. The red line (loops) shows the flight pattern of the helicopter while the light sources were firing (*created with Google maps, Imagery Landsat/Compernicus, Map data Google*).



Figure 8. Timeline of the balloon and helicopter mission. The red line indicates the balloon.

5 Data collection and example events

The laser energy was switched every two minutes between $\sim 15 \text{ mJ}$ and $\sim 10 \text{ mJ}$. The nominal laser energy corresponds to an EAS energy of about 60 EeV for 15 mJ. A 19 Hz repetition rate was chosen to obtain a chance overlap at regular intervals between the 20 Hz readout of the balloon and the laser. This arrangement worked around a problem with the clock synchronization between the two systems, possibly caused by a faulty GPS antenna on the balloon. The readout length is 320 µs. Assuming a minimum track length of the laser in the detector of 4 GTUs a chance overlap yields a number of potentially observable tracks of

$$N = (0.32ms - 0.01ms) \cdot 20Hz \cdot N_{\text{laser pulses}} = 0.0062 \cdot 105260 = 653$$

This number has to be corrected for periods when we do not expect to identify any tracks due to cloud obscuration. In a first oder approximation the possibility for clear atmospheric conditions is 33%. That gives an estimated number of 216 tracks. Out of these we were able to reconstruct 190. One reason for the lower number could be obstruction by clouds between the laser and the detector or positioning of the laser. The average energy of the shots, measured at the laser system, as a function of time can be seen in figure 9. The energy is decreasing over time due to heating of the laser. The laser shots that were recorded by EUSO-balloon are superimposed. Most of the events were recorded when there were no clouds between the laser and the balloon.



Figure 9. Red dots: energy of all fired laser shots averaged over 19 shots (1 s). Green Xs: shots recorded by EUSO-balloon. Grey regions indicate the likely presence of clouds. The laser energy is decreasing due to heating of the laser itself.

An example of a recorded laser track can be found in figure 10.

6 Analysis of laser events

6.1 Track identification

A track is a set of pixels from multiple GTUs. To identify tracks in the externally triggered data, a two-level pseudo-trigger was implemented in the offline data analysis. The first level is a simple threshold trigger. The average background per pixel over 128 GTUs is calculated. If at least 25 pixels have a value 5 sigmas above this average background the event is selected for further analysis. The event will be processed by the second level trigger which is looking for tracks. To determine if the set of pixels above background form a track two algorithms are available: one based on nearest neighbors and one on a linear time fit. Both algorithms use clusters of triggered pixels. A pixel is added to the cluster if its signal is 5 sigmas above its background and it is not further away than three pixels. The first algorithm adds a cluster to the track selection if it is next to another cluster in space and time. In case multiple tracks are found by this algorithm, the longest one is chosen. This method finds 205 tracks in the data. The second algorithm is more complex. It performs a



Figure 10. Laser track in the PDM at 05:29:25 UTC. Color represents the relative charge. The blue X is the helicopter position at this time.

linear time fit on the clusters to identify tracks in the data. 205 tracks are found with this algorithm as well. This latter algorithm is used for the work presented here.

6.2 Algorithm for geometric reconstruction

In this section, we explain the algorithm used to determine the geometry of the laser tracks. The analysis follows two major steps. First, the pointing direction of the selected pixels is used to find the Shower Detector Plane (SDP) (figure 11). In our case the shower is a laser track. The SDP is given by the location of the detector and the line of the shower axis. The norm vector of the SDP, \hat{SDP} is given by the pointing direction of the selected pixels and weighted by their count.

$$\hat{\mathbf{SDP}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{(\sum_{i;j>i} C_i C_j \mathbf{n}_i \times \mathbf{n}_j)^2}} \sum_{i;j>i} C_i C_j \mathbf{n}_i \times \mathbf{n}_j, \tag{6.1}$$

where C_i , n_i being, respectively, the charge and a unit vector along the pointing direction of the ith pixel in the track. **u**, in the figure, is a unit vector lying in the SDP that is pointing in the horizontal direction. To reconstruct the direction of the event in the SDP, a trial nominal direction is estimated. Then the expected time for the signal to reach the detector is calculated for each pixel based on the region of the event axis to which it points (see eq. 6.2). The difference between the expected and the observed time is compared and the parameters are adjusted to minimize time differences across the detector using the χ^2 minimization method. The geometry with the minimum difference is used to reconstruct the shower axis. The distance of closest approach, R_P , and the angle from **u** to R_P ,



Figure 11. Illustration of the reconstruction of the geometrical direction of the laser tracks fired from the helicopter using the observables from the balloon. The parameters are explained in the text.

 ψ_0 are the two parameters describing the axis. The arrival time at the ith pixel is given by

$$t_{i,\text{expected}} = T_0 + \frac{R_P}{c} \tan\left(\frac{\pi}{4} + \frac{\psi_0 - \psi_i}{2}\right)$$
(6.2)

where $\psi_i = a\cos(\mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{n}_i)$ is the pointing direction of each participating pixel in the SDP. T_0 is the time when the shower front reaches R_P . If the change in angular speed $d\psi/dt$ is small over the observed track length (low curvature in time vs. angle), the uncertainties in the 3 parameter fit can be large. A constrained fit can be performed using a known position along the track, for example the source position. This reduces the number of parameters in eq. (6.2) from 3 to 2 (T_0 and ψ_0) given by

$$t_{i,\text{ex}} = T_0 + \frac{R_{\text{known}}}{c} \cdot \cos(\psi_{\text{known}} - \psi_0) \cdot \tan\left(\frac{\pi}{4} - \frac{\psi_i - \psi_0}{2}\right)$$
(6.3)

where R_{known} is the distance between the detector and the known source point (in our case, the helicopter position), and ψ_{known} is the angle between the horizontal **u** and the known source point. This angle as well as R_{known} are calculated based on the GPS positions of the detector and the helicopter.

Finally, the laser reconstructed direction is given by

$$\mathbf{\Omega} = \sin(\psi_0)\hat{\mathbf{u}} + \cos(\psi_0)\left(\hat{\mathbf{u}} \times \mathbf{S}\hat{\mathbf{D}}\mathbf{P}\right),\tag{6.4}$$

where, the vector $\hat{\mathbf{u}}$ is contained in the SDP. It is therefore, perpendicular to the \hat{SDP} , and can be simply taken as $\mathbf{u} = (\hat{SDP}_y, -\hat{SDP}_x, 0)$. The approach described here is also valid for the direction reconstruction of extensive air showers.

6.3 Results of the direction reconstruction

The laser tracks from the underflight have been analyzed to reconstruct the laser direction relative to the detector. An example track is shown in figure 12, with the corresponding two-parameter timing



charge.

(a) Laser track in the PDM. Color represents the relative (b) Timing profile of a laser event with constant 0.5 GTU timing error.

Figure 12. Example laser track at 05:40:24 UTC with corresponding time profile and fit.



Figure 13. Zenith angle reconstruction of the helicopter laser shots with the 2-parameter fit method including only tracks with 4 GTUs or more.

fit (see equation (6.3)). In this case, the fit was constrained using the position of the helicopter. The instrument captured 205 laser track candidates. To ensure that the candidate is indeed a track and not a false positive of the track finding algorithm, we required a track length of at least 4 GTUs which corresponds to at least 2 degrees of freedom in our fit. Since the tracks were nominally horizontal, the track length is directly related to the observation duration expressed as the number of GTUs. This criterion reduces the number of tracks to 190. The reconstructed zenith angle is histogrammed in figure 13. The distribution of the 190 reconstructible events has a mean zenith angle of 92.2 $^{\circ}$ with a standard deviation of 3.8 $^{\circ}$. The two populations visible are related to the two



(a) 2-parameter reconstruction for an average laser energy of 10 mJ (low setting).



(b) 2 Parameter reconstruction for an average laser energy of 15 mJ (high setting).

Figure 14. Zenith angle reconstruction of the helicopter laser shots with the 2-parameter fit method split by laser energy. The minimum track duration is 4 GTUs.

energy settings used for the laser. While the lower energy setting is contributing to both populations the higher setting only contributes to the population centered around 90°. A possible explanation for this behavior is saturation of pixels inside the track, which shifts the weight of the timing fit. The result of splitting the dataset into high and low energy setting is shown in figure 14.

The expected mean value of the distribution should be slightly above 90°. The reason is that the laser was mounted to produce horizontal tracks (meaning a zenith angle of 90°) when the helicopter had a horizontal attitude. However, the helicopter was slightly turned sideways towards the ground by approximately 1-2° to fly a circular pattern. The estimation of the bank angle uses the velocity of the helicopter and the assumption of truly circular flight pattern ($\theta = \arctan(v^2/(R \cdot g))$). The velocity and position of the helicopter were recorded using the on-board GPS at a 1 Hz rate. Using the position information it is possible to fit circles to the flight pattern and obtain an approximate radius for segments of the flight.

7 Conclusion

The 2014 EUSO-Balloon flight made the first measurements of optical tracks by a fluorescence detector looking down on the atmosphere. The measurement required coordinating successfully the logistics of a balloon launch, a nighttime helicopter flight, on board laser and light sources, and GPS tracking. The laser tracks are simulating the signal of an EAS, proving the capability of EUSO-Balloon to observe such a signal.

Although the laser was too bright to perform an energy reconstruction (pixels were saturated), the beam direction was reconstructed relative to the detector. In the reconstruction it was assumed that the track is moving with the speed of light. The fact that the reconstructed zenith angles are reasonable insures that this assumption is true. The direction of the tracks could be reconstructed with a precision of $\pm 3.8^{\circ}$. The spread is less for the high energy setting of the laser than for the lower one. We note that the offset of $\sim 2^{\circ}$ below horizontal is consistent with the estimated average tilt of the circling helicopter.

The obtained angular resolution is affected by various factors: EUSO-Balloon is a prototype instrument designed mainly to demonstrate the JEM-EUSO proof of principle. The detector was

equipped with only two of the three Fresnel lenses in the original design for the optics, leading to a point spread function of around 9 pixels ($\simeq 0.7^{\circ}$). In addition, the PDM had dead spots and only 30% of the PDM was properly calibrated. Details of this calibration are presented in [18]. The accuracy of the efficiency measurement of the MAPMTs with the highest gain (this mean around 30% of the PDM) is better than 5%. The 2.5 μ s resolution was too large for a reconstruction angular resolution within a few degrees at the short distance between the helicopter and the balloon of 35 km. This resolution does not represent the final resolution of the JEM-EUSO instrument. The distance between the detector and the shower will be around 10 times larger resolving the time resolution issue. The issues discovered during the mission led to an upgrade in the electronics used in the subsequent mission: EUSO-SPB1 [5]. Furthermore the experience will play an important role for the planned mission of EUSO-SPB2 [19].

Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge strong support from the French Space Agency CNES who provided the leadership that made this achievement possible in a very short time as well as funding. We are indebted to the balloon division of CNES for a perfect launch, a smooth flight operation and flawless telemetry. The Canadian Space Agency has provided outstanding facilities at the Timmins Stratospheric Balloon Base and a quick and careful recovery of the instrument. We would like to thank NASA for their support in organizing and financing the helicopter underflight. This work was partially supported by the NASA grants NNX13AH55G, NNX13AH53G in the US. Japan is supported by the Basic Science Interdisciplinary Research Projects of RIKEN and JSPS KAKENHI Grant (22340063, 23340081, and 24244042), by the Italian Ministry of Foreign Affairs and International Cooperation, by the 'Helmholtz Alliance for Astroparticle Physics HAP' funded by the Initiative and Networking Fund of the Helmholtz Association, Germany, and by Slovak Academy of Sciences MVTS JEM-EUSO as well as VEGA grant agency project 2/0076/13. Russia is supported by the Russian Foundation for Basic Research Grant No 13-02-12175-ofi-m. The Spanish Consortium involved in the JEM-EUSO Space Mission is funded by MICINN & MINECO under the Space Program projects: AYA2009-06037-E/AYA, AYA-ESP2010-19082, AYA-ESP2011-29489-C03, AYA-ESP2012-39115-C03, AYA-ESP2013-47816-C4, MINECO/FEDER-UNAH13-4E-2741, CSD2009-00064 (Consolider MULTIDARK) and by Comunidad de Madrid (CAM) under projects S2009/ESP-1496 & S2013/ICE-2822. We would like to thank the staff at our laboratories and home institutions for their strong and undivided support all along this project.

References

- [1] JEM-EUSO collaboration, M. Casolino, *The EUSO missions to study UHECR from space: status and perspectives*, PoS(ICRC2017)370.
- [2] JEM-EUSO collaboration, P. Klimov et al., *Status of the KLYPVE-EUSO detector for EECR*, PoS(ICRC2017)412.
- [3] A. Olinto et al., POEMMA: Probe Of Extreme Multi-Messenger Astrophysics, PoS(ICRC2017)542.
- [4] JEM-EUSO collaboration, L.W. Piotrowski et al., *The EUSO-TA detector: status and performance*, PoS(ICRC2017)374.

- [5] JEM-EUSO collaboration, L. Wiencke et al., *EUSO-SPB1 mission and science*, PoS(ICRC2017)1097.
- [6] JEM-EUSO collaboration, M. Ricci et al., *Mini-EUSO: a pathfinder for JEM-EUSO to measure Earth's UV background from the ISS*, PoS(ICRC2015)599.
- [7] JEM-EUSO collaboration, S. Mackovjak et al., *Night time measurement of the UV background by EUSO-Balloon*, PoS(ICRC2015)685.
- [8] JEM-EUSO collaboration, P. von Ballmoos et al., *General overview of EUSO-Balloon mission*, PoS(ICRC2015)322.
- [9] JEM-EUSO collaboration, C. Catalano et al., *Performance of the EUSO-Balloon optics*, PoS(ICRC2015)622.
- [10] JEM-EUSO collaboration, A. Jung, *Design and implementation of the photo-detector module electronics for the EUSO-Balloon, prototype of the JEM-EUSO telescope*, 2015 *JINST* **10** C08014.
- [11] JEM-EUSO collaboration, S. Ahmad et al., SPACIROC: a front-end readout ASIC for JEM-EUSO cosmic ray observatory, Phys. Proceedia 37 (2012) 1600.
- [12] C. Medina, The central laser facility at the Pierre Auger Observatory. Studies of the atmospheric vertical aerosol optical depth and other applications to comic ray mesurements, Ph.D. thesis, Colorado School of Mines, Golden CO U.S.A., (2017).
- [13] M. Ave et al., Measurement of the pressure dependence of air fluorescence emission induced by electrons, Astropart. Phys. 28 (2007) 41 [astro-ph/0703132].
- [14] JEM-EUSO collaboration, J. Adams et al., *The calibration of EUSO-Balloon using airborne light sources mounted to a helicopter*, PoS(ICRC2015)580.
- [15] Quantel-laser webpage, http://www.quantel-laser.com.
- [16] Laser probe inc. webpage, http://www.laserprobeinc.com/.
- [17] J. Smith, J. Thomas, S. Thomas and L. Wiencke, System and method for precise absolute time event generation and capture, U.S. Patent 7,975,160, U.S.A., (2011).
- [18] JEM-EUSO collaboration, C. Moretto et al., *Calibration of the photo-detector module of EUSO-Balloon*, PoS(ICRC2015)655.
- [19] J.H. Adams et al., White paper on EUSO-SPB2, arXiv: 1703.04513.

The JEM-EUSO collaboration

G. Abdellaoui^{ah}, S. Abe^{fq}, J.H. Adams Jr.^{pd}, A. Ahriche^{ae}, D. Allard^{cc}, L. Allen^{pb}, G. Alonso^{md}, L. Anchordoqui^{pf}, A. Anzalone^{eh,ed}, Y. Arai^{fs}, K. Asano^{fe}, R. Attallah^{ac}, H. Attoui^{aa}, M. Ave Pernas^{mc}, S. Bacholle^{*pc*}, M. Bakiri^{*aa*}, P. Baragatti^{*en*}, P. Barrillon^{*ca*}, S. Bartocci^{*en*}, J. Bayer^{*dd*}, B. Beldjilali^{*ah*}, T. Belenguer^{mb}, N. Belkhalfa^{aa}, R. Bellotti^{ea,eb}, A. Belov^{kc}, K. Belov^{pe}, K. Benmessai^{aa}, M. Bertaina^{ek,el}, P.L. Biermann^{db}, S. Biktemerova^{ka}, F. Bisconti^{ek}, N. Blanc^{oa}, J. Błęcki^{ic}, S. Blin-Bondil^{cb}, P. Bobik^{la}, M. Bogomilov^{ba}, E. Bozzo^{ob}, A. Bruno^{eb}, K.S. Caballero^{he}, F. Cafagna^{ea}, D. Campana^{ef}, J-N. Capdevielle^{cc}, F. Capel^{na}, A. Caramete^{ja}, L. Caramete^{ja}, P. Carlson^{na}, R. Caruso^{ec,ed}, M. Casolino^{ft,ei}, C. Cassardo^{ek,el}, A. Castellina^{ek,em}, C. Catalano^{cd} O. Catalano^{eh,ed}, A. Cellino^{*ek,em*}, M. Chikawa^{*fc*}, G. Chiritoi^{*ja*}, M.J. Christl^{*pg*}, V. Connaughton^{*pd*}, L. Conti^{*en*}, G. Cordero^{ha}, G. Cotto^{ek,el}, H.J. Crawford^{pa}, R. Cremonini^{el}, S. Csorna^{ph}, A. Cummings^{pc}, S. Dagoret-Campagne^{ca}, C. De Donato^{ei}, C. de la Taille^{cb}, C. De Santis^{ei}, L. del Peral^{mc}, M. Di Martino^{em}, A. Diaz Damian^{cd}, T. Djemil^{ac}, I. Dutan^{ja}, A. Ebersoldt^{db}, T. Ebisuzaki^{ft}, R. Engel^{db}, J. Eser^{pc}, F. Fenu^{ek,el}, S. Fernández-González^{ma}, J. Fernández-Soriano^{mc}, S. Ferrarese^{ek,el}, M. Flamini^{en}, C. Fornaro^{en}, M. Fouka^{ab}, A. Franceschi^{ee}, S. Franchini^{md}, C. Fuglesang^{na}, T. Fujii^{fe}, J. Fujimoto^{fs}, M. Fukushima^{fe}, P. Galeotti^{ek,el}, E. García-Ortega^{ma}, G. Garipov^{kc}, E. Gascón^{ma}, J. Genci^{lb}, G. Giraudo^{ek}, C. González Alvarado^{mb}, P. Gorodetzky^{cc}, R. Greg^{pc}, F. Guarino^{ef,eg}, A. Guzmán^{dd}, Y. Hachisu^{ft}, M. Haiduc^{ja}, B. Harlov^{kb}, A. Haungs^{db}, J. Hernández Carretero^{mc}, W. Hidber Cruz^{ha}, D. Ikeda^{fe}, N. Inoue^{fn}, S. Inoue^{ft}, F. Isgrò^{ef,eo}, Y. Itow^{fk}, T. Jammer^{dc}, S. Jeong^{gc}, E. Joven^{me}, E.G. Judd^{pa}, A. Jung^{cc}, J. Jochum^{dc}, F. Kajino^{ff}, T. Kajino^{fi}, S. Kalli^{af}, I. Kaneko^{ft}, Y. Karadzhov^{ba}, J. Karczmarczyk^{*ib*,*}, K. Katahira^{*ft*}, K. Kawai^{*ft*}, Y. Kawasaki^{*ft*,*}, A. Kedadra^{*aa*}, H. Khales^{*aa*}, B.A. Khrenov^{kc}, Jeong-Sook Kim^{ga}, Soon-Wook Kim^{ga}, M. Kleifges^{db}, P.A. Klimov^{kc}, D. Kolev^{ba}, H. Krantz^{*pc*}, I. Kreykenbohm^{*da*}, K. Kudela^{*la*}, Y. Kurihara^{*fs*}, A. Kusenko^{*fr*, *pe*}, E. Kuznetsov^{*pd*}, A. La Barbera^{eh,ed}, C. Lachaud^{cc}, H. Lahmar^{aa}, F. Lakhdari^{ag}, R. Larson^{pc}, O. Larsson^{na}, J. Lee^{gc}, J. Licandro^{me}, L. López Campano^{ma}, M.C. Maccarone^{eh,ed}, S. Mackovjak^{ob}, M. Mahdi^{aa}, D. Maravilla^{ha}, L. Marcelli^{ei}, J.L. Marcos^{ma}, A. Marini^{ee}, W. Marszał^{ib}, K. Martens^{fr}, Y. Martín^{me}, O. Martinez^{hc}, M. Martucci^{ee}, G. Masciantonio^{ei}, K. Mase^{fa}, M. Mastafa^{pd}, R. Matev^{ba}, J.N. Matthews^{pi}, N. Mebarki^{ad}, G. Medina-Tanco^{ha}, M.A. Mendoza^{hd}, A. Menshikov^{db}, A. Merino^{ma}, J. Meseguer^{md}, S.S. Meyer^{pb}, J. Mimouni^{ad}, H. Miyamoto^{ek,el}, Y. Mizumoto^{fi}, A. Monaco^{ea,eb}, J.A. Morales de los Ríos^{mc}, C. Moretto^{ca} S. Nagataki^{ft}, S. Naitamor^{ab}, T. Napolitano^{ee}, W. Naslund^{pc}, R. Nava^{ha}, A. Neronov^{ob}, K. Nomoto^{fr}, T. Nonaka^{fe}, T. Ogawa^{ft}, S. Ogio^{fl}, H. Ohmori^{ft}, A.V. Olinto^{pb}, P. Orleański^{*ic*}, G. Osteria^{*ef*}, A. Pagliaro^{*eh*,*ed*}, W. Painter^{*db*}, M.I. Panasyuk^{*kc*}, B. Panico^{*ef*}, G. Pasqualino^{pc}, E. Parizot^{cc}, I.H. Park^{gc}, B. Pastircak^{la}, T. Patzak^{cc}, T. Paul^{pf}, I. Pérez-Grande^{md}, F. Perfetto^{ef}, T. Peter^{oc}, P. Picozza^{ei,ej,ft}, S. Pindado^{md}, L.W. Piotrowski^{ft}, S. Piraino^{dd}, L. Placidi^{en}, Z. Plebaniak^{ib}, S. Pliego^{ha}, A. Pollini^{oa}, Z. Polonski^{pc}, E.M. Popescu^{ja}, P. Prat^{cc}, G. Prévôt^{cc}, H. Prieto^{mc}, G. Puehlhofer^{dd}, M. Putis^{la}, J. Rabanal^{ca}, A.A. Radu^{ja}, M. Reyes^{me}, M. Rezazadeh^{pb}, M. Ricci^{ee}, M.D. Rodríguez Frías^{mc}, M. Rodencal^{pd}, F. Ronga^{ee}, G. Roudil^{cd}, I. Rusinov^{ba}, M. Rybczyński^{*ia*}, M.D. Sabau^{*mb*}, G. Sáez Cano^{*mc*}, H. Sagawa^{*fe*}, Z. Sahnoune^{*ab*}, A. Saito^{*fg*}, N. Sakaki^{*fe*}, H. Salazar^{hc}, J.C. Sanchez Balanzar^{ha}, J.L. Sánchez^{ma}, A. Santangelo^{dd}, A. Sanz-Andrés^{md}, M. Sanz Palomino^{mb}, O. Saprykin^{kb}, F. Sarazin^{pc}, M. Sato^{fo}, T. Schanz^{dd}, H. Schieler^{db}, V. Scotti^{ef}, S. Selmane^{cc}, D. Semikoz^{cc}, M. Serra^{me}, S. Sharakin^{kc}, H.M. Shimizu^{fj}, K. Shinozaki^{ek,el}, T. Shirahama^{fn}, B. Spataro^{ee}, I. Stan^{ja}, T. Sugiyama^{fj}, D. Supanitsky^{ha}, M. Suzuki^{fm}, B. Szabelska^{ib}, J. Szabelski^{*ib*}, N. Tajima^{*ft*}, T. Tajima^{*ft*}, Y. Takahashi^{*fo*}, H. Takami^{*fs*}, M. Takeda^{*fe*}, Y. Takizawa^{*ft*}, M.C. Talai^{ac}, C. Tenzer^{dd}, S.B. Thomas^{pi}, O. Tibolla^{hf}, L. Tkachev^{ka}, H. Tokuno^{fp}, T. Tomida^{fh}, N. Tone^{ft}, S. Toscano^{ob}, M. Traïche^{aa}, R. Tsenov^{ba}, Y. Tsunesada^{fl}, K. Tsuno^{ft}, J. Tubbs^{pd}, S. Turriziani^{ft}, Y. Uchihori^{fb}, O. Vaduvescu^{me}, J.F. Valdés-Galicia^{ha}, P. Vallania^{ek,em}, G. Vankova^{ba}, C. Vigorito^{ek,el}, L. Villaseñor^{hb}, B. Vlcek^{mc}, P. von Ballmoos^{cd}, M. Vrabel^{lb}, S. Wada^{ft}, J. Watanabe^{fi},

- J. Watts Jr.^{pd}, M. Weber^{db}, R. Weigand Muñoz^{ma}, A. Weindl^{db}, L. Wiencke^{pc}, M. Wille^{da}, J. Wilms^{da},
- Z. Włodarczyk^{*ia*}, T. Yamamoto^{*ff*}, J. Yang^{*gb*}, H. Yano^{*fm*}, I.V. Yashin^{*kc*}, D. Yonetoku^{*fd*}, S. Yoshida^{*fa*},
- R. Young^{pg}, I.S Zgura^{ja}, M.Yu. Zotov^{kc} and A. Zuccaro Marchi^{ft}
 - aa Centre for Development of Advanced Technologies (CDTA), Algiers, Algeria
 - ab Dep. Astronomy, Centre Res. Astronomy, Astrophysics and Geophysics (CRAAG), Algiers, Algeria
 - ac LPR at Dept. of Physics, Faculty of Sciences, University Badji Mokhtar, Annaba, Algeria
 - ad Lab. of Math. and Sub-Atomic Phys. (LPMPS), Univ. Constantine I, Constantine, Algeria
 - ae Laboratory of Theoretical Physics LPT, University of Jijel, Jijel, Algeria
 - af Department of Physics, Faculty of Sciences, University of M'sila, M'sila, Algeria
 - ag Research Unit on Optics and Photonics, UROP-CDTA, Sétif, Algeria
 - ah Telecom Lab., Faculty of Technology, University Abou Bekr Belkaid, Tlemcen, Algeria
 - ba St. Kliment Ohridski University of Sofia, Bulgaria
 - ca LAL, Univ Paris-Sud, CNRS/IN2P3, Orsay, France
 - cb Omega, Ecole Polytechnique, CNRS/IN2P3, Palaiseau, France
 - cc APC, Univ Paris Diderot, CNRS/IN2P3, CEA/Irfu, Obs de Paris, Sorbonne Paris Cité, France
 - cd IRAP, Université de Toulouse, CNRS, Toulouse, France
 - da ECAP, University of Erlangen-Nuremberg, Germany
 - ^{db} Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (KIT), Germany
 - dc Experimental Physics Institute, Kepler Center, University of Tübingen, Germany
 - ^{dd} Institute for Astronomy and Astrophysics, Kepler Center, University of Tübingen, Germany
 - ea Istituto Nazionale di Fisica Nucleare Sezione di Bari, Italy
 - eb Universita' degli Studi di Bari Aldo Moro and INFN Sezione di Bari, Italy
 - ec Dipartimento di Fisica e Astronomia Universita' di Catania, Italy
 - ed Istituto Nazionale di Fisica Nucleare Sezione di Catania, Italy
 - ee Istituto Nazionale di Fisica Nucleare Laboratori Nazionali di Frascati, Italy
 - ef Istituto Nazionale di Fisica Nucleare Sezione di Napoli, Italy
 - eg Universita' di Napoli Federico II Dipartimento di Fisica, Italy
 - eh INAF Istituto di Astrofisica Spaziale e Fisica Cosmica di Palermo, Italy
 - ei Istituto Nazionale di Fisica Nucleare Sezione di Roma Tor Vergata, Italy
 - ej Universita' di Roma Tor Vergata Dipartimento di Fisica, Roma, Italy
 - ek Istituto Nazionale di Fisica Nucleare Sezione di Torino, Italy
 - el Dipartimento di Fisica, Universita' di Torino, Italy
 - em Osservatorio Astrofisico di Torino, Istituto Nazionale di Astrofisica, Italy
 - en UTIU, Dipartimento di Ingegneria, Rome, Italy
 - eo DIETI, Universita' degli Studi di Napoli Federico II, Napoli, Italy
 - fa Chiba University, Chiba, Japan
 - ^{fb} National Institute of Radiological Sciences, Chiba, Japan
 - fc Kinki University, Higashi-Osaka, Japan
 - ^{fd} Kanazawa University, Kanazawa, Japan
 - fe Institute for Cosmic Ray Research, University of Tokyo, Kashiwa, Japan
 - ff Konan University, Kobe, Japan
 - fg Kyoto University, Kyoto, Japan
 - fh Shinshu University, Nagano, Japan
 - fi National Astronomical Observatory, Mitaka, Japan
 - fj Nagoya University, Nagoya, Japan
 - ^{fk} Institute for Space-Earth Environmental Research, Nagoya University, Nagoya, Japan
 - fl Graduate School of Science, Osaka City University, Japan
 - fm Institute of Space and Astronautical Science/JAXA, Sagamihara, Japan
 - fn Saitama University, Saitama, Japan
 - fo Hokkaido University, Sapporo, Japan
 - fp Interactive Research Center of Science, Tokyo Institute of Technology, Tokyo, Japan

- fr University of Tokyo, Tokyo, Japan
- fs High Energy Accelerator Research Organization (KEK), Tsukuba, Japan
- ft RIKEN, Wako, Japan
- ga Korea Astronomy and Space Science Institute (KASI), Daejeon, Republic of Korea
- ^{gb} Ewha Womans University, Seoul, Republic of Korea
- ^{gc} Sungkyunkwan University, Seoul, Republic of Korea
- ha Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México (UNAM), Mexico
- ^{hb} Universidad Michoacana de San Nicolas de Hidalgo (UMSNH), Morelia, Mexico
- hc Benemérita Universidad Autónoma de Puebla (BUAP), Mexico
- hd Centro de Desarrollo Aeroespacial Instituto Politécnico National (CDA-IPN), Mexico
- he Universidad Autónoma de Chiapas (UNACH), Chiapas, Mexico
- hf Centro Mesoamericano de Física Teórica (MCTP), Mexico
- ia Jan Kochanowski University, Institute of Physics, Kielce, Poland
- ib National Centre for Nuclear Research, Lodz, Poland
- ic Space Research Centre of the Polish Academy of Sciences (CBK), Warsaw, Poland
- ja Institute of Space Science ISS, Magurele, Romania
- ka Joint Institute for Nuclear Research, Dubna, Russia
- kb Central Research Institute of Machine Building, TsNIIMash, Korolev, Russia
- kc Skobeltsyn Institute of Nuclear Physics, Lomonosov Moscow State University, Russia
- la Institute of Experimental Physics, Kosice, Slovakia
- ^{1b} Technical University Kosice (TUKE), Kosice, Slovakia
- ma Universidad de León (ULE), León, Spain
- mb Instituto Nacional de Técnica Aeroespacial (INTA), Madrid, Spain
- mc Universidad de Alcalá (UAH), Madrid, Spain
- ^{md} Universidad Politécnia de madrid (UPM), Madrid, Spain
- me Instituto de Astrofísica de Canarias (IAC), Tenerife, Spain
- ^{na} KTH Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm, Sweden
- oa Swiss Center for Electronics and Microtechnology (CSEM), Neuchâtel, Switzerland
- ob ISDC Data Centre for Astrophysics, Versoix, Switzerland
- oc Institute for Atmospheric and Climate Science, ETH Zürich, Switzerland
- pa Space Science Laboratory, University of California, Berkeley, U.S.A.
- pb University of Chicago, U.S.A.
- pc Colorado School of Mines, Golden, U.S.A.
- pd University of Alabama in Huntsville, Huntsville, U.S.A.
- pe NASA Jet Propulsion Laboratory, Pasadena, U.S.A.
- ^{pf} Lehman College, City University of New York (CUNY), U.S.A.
- pg NASA Marshall Space Flight Center, U.S.A.
- ^{ph} Vanderbilt University, Nashville, U.S.A.
- pi University of Utah, Salt Lake City, U.S.A.
- * deceased 2016